

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE

ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-FIFTH LEGISLATURE

FIRST REGULAR SESSION
December 1, 2010 to June 29, 2011

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST REGULAR SESSION
NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS
SEPTEMBER 28, 2011

PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.

Augusta, Maine
2011

"health insurance" means insurance of human beings against bodily injury, disablement or death by accident or accidental means, or the expense thereof, or against disablement or expense resulting from sickness, and every insurance appertaining thereto, including provision for the mental and emotional welfare of human beings by defraying the costs of legal services only to the extent provided for in chapter 38.

Sec. 2. 24-A MRSA §704, sub-§3 is enacted to read:

3. Health care sharing ministry. As used in this Title and Title 24, the use of "health insurance" and related terms such as "accident and health insurance," "accident and sickness insurance," "carrier," "health," "health benefit plan," "health care," "health insurer" or "insurer" does not include, unless specifically provided otherwise in the law, a health care sharing ministry, and a health care sharing ministry may not be considered to be engaged in the business of insurance for the purposes of this Title. For the purposes of this section, "health care sharing ministry" means a faith-based, nonprofit organization that is exempt from taxation under the federal Internal Revenue Code and that:

- A. Has been in existence continuously since December 31, 1999 and has facilitated the sharing of medical expenses of participants without interruption since December 31, 1999;
- B. Limits participation in the health care sharing ministry to individuals who have a particular religious affiliation;
- C. Acts as a facilitator among participants who have financial and medical needs and matches those participants with other participants with the present ability to assist those with financial and medical needs in accordance with criteria established by the health care sharing ministry;
- D. Provides for the financial and medical needs of a participant through monetary contributions from one participant to another;
- E. Provides amounts that participants may contribute without any assumption of risk or promise to pay among the participants and requires no assumption of risk or promise to pay by the health care sharing ministry to the participants;
- F. Provides a written monthly statement to all participants that lists the total dollar amount of qualified needs submitted to the health care sharing ministry, as well as the amount actually published or assigned to participants for their contribution;
- G. Conducts an annual audit that is performed by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that is made available to the public upon request; and

H. Provides a written disclaimer on or accompanying all applications and guideline materials distributed by or on behalf of the organization that reads in substance: "Notice: The organization facilitating the sharing of medical expenses is not an insurance company and neither its guidelines nor plan of operation is an insurance policy. Whether anyone chooses to assist you with your medical bills will be totally voluntary because no other participant will be compelled by law to contribute toward your medical bills. Participation in the organization or a subscription to any of its documents should never be considered to be insurance. Regardless of whether you receive payment for medical expenses or whether this organization continues to operate, you are always personally responsible for the payment of your own medical bills."

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 193

H.P. 875 - L.D. 1177

An Act To Make Minor Changes to Municipal Health Inspection Activities

Mandate preamble. This measure requires one or more local units of government to expand or modify activities so as to necessitate additional expenditures from local revenues but does not provide funding for at least 90% of those expenditures. Pursuant to the Constitution of Maine, Article IX, Section 21, 2/3 of all of the members elected to each House have determined it necessary to enact this measure.

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

PART A

Sec. A-1. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§1, as amended by PL 1979, c. 30, §1, is further amended to read:

1. Campground. "~~Camping area~~ Campground" means, in addition to the ~~general~~ generally accepted interpretations definitions, camping areas, recreational vehicle parks, seashore resorts, lakeshore places, picnic and lunch grounds or other premises where tents or recreational vehicles, rental cabins and cottages are permitted to be parked on 5 or more sites for compensation either directly or indirectly. "Campground" includes, but is not limited to, sites intended for recreational purposes rather than permanent residency. "Campground" does not include parking lots or areas where camping is not authorized.

Sec. A-2. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§4, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3, is amended to read:

4. Cottage. "Cottage" means a single structure where sleeping accommodations are furnished to the public as a business for a day, week or month, but not for ~~more longer than the an entire summer season, for temporary occupancy for recreational purposes only and not for permanent residency.~~

Sec. A-3. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§6, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3, is amended to read:

6. Eating and lodging place. "Eating and lodging place ~~or lodging place~~" means every building or structure or any part thereof kept, used as, maintained as, advertised as or held out to the public to be a place where eating and sleeping ~~or sleeping~~ accommodations are furnished to the public as a business, such as hotels, motels, guest homes and cottages.

Sec. A-4. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§7, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §1, is further amended to read:

7. Eating establishment. "Eating establishment" means any place where food or drink is prepared and served, or served to the public for consumption on the premises, or catering establishments, or establishments dispensing food from vending machines, or establishments preparing foods for vending machines dispensing foods other than in original sealed packages, such as hotels, motels, boarding homes, restaurants, ~~take-out restaurants,~~ mobile eating places, coffee shops, cafeterias, short order cafes, luncheonettes, grills, tea-rooms, sandwich shops, soda fountains, bars, cocktail lounges, night clubs, roadside stands, industrial feeding establishments, private or public institutions routinely serving foods, retail frozen dairy product establishments, airports, parks, theaters, recreational camps, youth camps or any other catering or nonalcoholic drinking establishments or operations where food is prepared and served or served for consumption on the premises, or catering establishments where food is prepared, or where foods are prepared for vending machines dispensing food other than in original sealed packages.

Sec. A-5. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§7-E is enacted to read:

7-E. Health inspector. "Health inspector" means a person whose education and experience in the biological and sanitary sciences qualify that person to engage in the promotion and protection of the public health and who applies technical knowledge to solve problems of a sanitary nature and develops methods and carries out procedures for the control of those factors of the environment that affect the health, safety and well-being of others.

Sec. A-6. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§7-F is enacted to read:

7-F. Lodging place. "Lodging place" means a building or structure, or any part of a building or struc-

ture, used, maintained, advertised or held out to the public as a place where sleeping accommodations are furnished to the public for business purposes. "Lodging place" includes, but is not limited to, hotels, motels, guest homes and cottages where the owner maintains the sleeping accommodations. "Lodging place" does not include permanent residences, rooming houses, tenancies at will or rental properties with tenant and landlord relationships.

Sec. A-7. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§10-A is enacted to read:

10-A. Public pool. "Public pool" means any constructed or prefabricated pool other than a residential pool or medical facility pool that is intended to be used for swimming, recreational bathing or wading and is operated by an owner, lessee, tenant or concessionaire or by a person licensed by the department whether or not a fee is charged for use. "Public pool" includes a pool on the premises of a child care facility that is licensed or required to be licensed under section 8301-A.

Sec. A-8. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§10-B is enacted to read:

10-B. Public spa. "Public spa" means any constructed spa other than a residential spa or medical facility spa.

Sec. A-9. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§11, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §2, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

11. Recreational camp or sporting camp. "Recreational camp" or "sporting camp" means a building or group of buildings devoted primarily to the offering of primitive lodging for a fee to persons who want primitive recreation, snowmobiling, hunting, fishing and similar camps, not including summer sports programs overseen by employees or volunteers of municipalities and educational institutions when the activities generally take place at municipal or institutional properties and buildings.

Sec. A-10. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§12, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3, is repealed.

Sec. A-11. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§13, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3, is repealed.

Sec. A-12. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§14, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3, is amended to read:

14. Vending machine. "Vending machine" ~~shall mean~~ means any self-service device offered for public use ~~which that,~~ upon insertion of ~~a coin, coins or token money~~ or by other similar means, dispenses unit servings of food other than in original sealed packages without the necessity of replenishing the device between vending operations.

Sec. A-13. 22 MRSA §2491, sub-§16, as enacted by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §3, is amended to read:

16. Youth camp. "Youth camp" means a combination of program and facilities established for the primary purpose of providing an outdoor group living experience for children with social, recreational, spiritual and educational objectives and operated and used for 5 or more consecutive days during one or more seasons of the year. "Youth camp" includes day camps, residential camps and trip and travel camps. "Youth camp" does not include summer sports programs overseen by employees or volunteers of municipalities and educational institutions when the activities generally take place at municipal or institutional properties and buildings.

Sec. A-14. 22 MRSA §2492, sub-§1, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §§4 to 6, is further amended to read:

1. License required. A person, corporation, firm or copartnership may not conduct, control, manage or operate the following establishments for compensation, directly or indirectly, without a license issued by the department:

- A. An eating establishment;
- B. An eating and lodging place;
- C. A lodging place;
- D. A recreational camp or sporting camp;
- E. A ~~camping area~~ campground; ~~or~~
- F. A youth camp;
- G. A public pool; or
- H. A public spa.

Licenses issued must be displayed in a place readily visible to customers or other persons using a licensed establishment.

Sec. A-15. 22 MRSA §2492, sub-§3, as enacted by PL 2003, c. 452, Pt. K, §20 and affected by Pt. X, §2, is amended to read:

3. Campground; presumption. If a ~~camping area~~ campground consists of 5 or more tents or recreational vehicles on a commercial lot, it is presumed that the owner or renter of the lot is receiving compensation for the use of a ~~camping area~~ campground. The owner or renter may rebut the presumption if the owner or renter presents a preponderance of evidence to the contrary.

Sec. A-16. 22 MRSA §2499, sub-§4, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3, is amended to read:

4. Inspection reports. The municipalities shall furnish ~~the department~~ electronic copies of its inspection reports ~~relating to said inspections on a monthly~~

basis in a format and on a schedule determined by the department.

Sec. A-17. 22 MRSA §2499, sub-§6, as amended by PL 2003, c. 673, Pt. X, §4, is further amended to read:

6. License fee. When a license is issued to an ~~eating~~ establishment, as described in section 2492, subsection 1, located in a municipality to which authority to conduct inspection has been delegated by the department as specified in this section, the requirement for payment of a license fee by the establishment to the department as set forth in section 2494 must be waived. However, the licensee is required to pay the department a sum not to exceed ~~\$60~~ \$100 to support the costs of mailing and handling.

Sec. A-18. 22 MRSA §2499, sub-§9, as enacted by PL 2003, c. 673, Pt. X, §6, is amended to read:

9. Delegation renewal. Beginning January 1, 2005, and every 3 years thereafter, the department shall review the ~~restaurant~~ inspection program of the municipalities to which authority to conduct inspections has been delegated. The process for the delegation of this authority and other such provisions describing the assignment of and removal of this delegation of authority must be established by rule and must include, but not be limited to, staff competency, enforcement and compliance history, inspection practices and reporting practices. Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine technical rules pursuant to Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

Sec. A-19. Maine Revised Statutes headnote amended; revision clause. In the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 22, chapter 562, in the chapter headnote, the words "camping areas, recreational camps, youth camps and eating establishments" are amended to read "campgrounds, recreational camps, youth camps and eating establishments" and the Revisor of Statutes shall implement this revision when updating, publishing or republishing the statutes.

PART B

Sec. B-1. 22 MRSA §2494, first ¶, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §7, is further amended to read:

Each application for, or for renewal of, a license to operate an eating establishment, eating and lodging place, lodging place, recreational camp, youth camp or ~~camping area~~ campground within the meaning of this chapter must be accompanied by a fee, appropriate to the size of the establishment, place, camp or area of the licensee, determined by the department and not to exceed the fees listed below. All fees collected by the department must be deposited into a special revenue account established for this purpose. No such fee may

be refunded. No license may be assignable or transferable. The fees may not exceed:

Sec. B-2. 22 MRSA §2494, sub-§2, as amended by PL 2003, c. 673, Pt. X, §1, is further amended to read:

2. Sixty dollars. Sixty dollars for each inspection for any ~~eating~~ establishment that is located in a municipality that requires local inspections of ~~eating~~ establishments; and

Sec. B-3. 22 MRSA §2495, first ¶, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §8, is further amended to read:

The department shall, within 30 days following receipt of application, issue an annual license to operate any eating establishment, eating and lodging place, lodging place, recreational camp, youth camp or ~~camping area~~ campground that is found to comply with this chapter and the rules adopted by the department.

Sec. B-4. 22 MRSA §2498, sub-§1, ¶A, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §10, is further amended to read:

A. The department may impose penalties for violations of this chapter, or the rules adopted pursuant to this chapter, on any eating establishment, eating and lodging place, lodging place, recreational camp, youth camp or ~~camping area~~ campground. The penalties may not be greater than \$100 for each violation. Each day that the violation remains uncorrected may be counted as a separate offense. Penalties may be imposed for each violation of the rules.

Sec. B-5. 22 MRSA §2498, sub-§1, ¶B, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §11, is further amended to read:

B. The department may direct an eating establishment, eating and lodging place, lodging place, recreational camp, youth camp or ~~camping area~~ campground to correct any violations in a manner and within a time frame that the department determines is appropriate to ensure compliance with state rules or to protect the public health. Failure to correct violations within the time frames constitutes a separate finable violation.

Sec. B-6. 22 MRSA §2498, sub-§1, ¶C, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. A, §12, is further amended to read:

C. Any person, corporation, firm or copartnership that operates any eating establishment, eating and lodging place, lodging place, recreational camp, youth camp or ~~camping area~~ campground without first obtaining a license as required by this chapter must be punished, upon adjudication of unlicensed operation, by a fine of not less than \$25

nor more than \$200, and upon a 2nd or subsequent adjudication of unlicensed operation must be punished by a fine of not less than \$200 nor more than \$500. Each day any such person, corporation, firm or copartnership operates without obtaining a license constitutes a separate offense.

Sec. B-7. 22 MRSA §2499, sub-§2, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3 and amended by PL 2003, c. 689, Pt. B, §7, is further amended to read:

2. Qualified to make inspections. ~~No municipal~~ A municipally employed sanitarians shall health inspector may not make inspections under the provisions of this chapter unless certified as qualified by the Commissioner of Health and Human Services.

Sec. B-8. 22 MRSA §2499, sub-§8, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3, is amended to read:

8. Certification. Certification of municipally employed ~~sanitarians shall health inspectors~~ must be in accordance with standards set by the commissioner and ~~shall~~ be for a period of 3 years.

Sec. B-9. 22 MRSA §2499, first ¶, as enacted by PL 1975, c. 496, §3, is amended to read:

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, the department may issue a license to ~~estab-~~ establishments an establishment as defined in section 2491 on the basis of an inspection performed by ~~an a health~~ inspector who works for and is compensated by the municipality in which such an establishment is located, but only if the following conditions have been met.

Sec. B-10. 22 MRSA §2501, as amended by PL 2007, c. 428, §1, is further amended to read:

§2501. Exceptions

Private homes are not deemed or considered lodging places and subject to a license when not more than 5 rooms are let; such private homes must post in a visible location in each rented room a card with the following statement in text that is easily readable in no less than 18-point boldface type of uniform font "This lodging place is not regulated by the State of Maine Department of Health and Human Services, Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention." The homes must provide guests upon check-in with a notice containing the same information. A license is not required from dormitories of charitable, educational or philanthropic institutions, fraternity and sorority houses affiliated with educational institutions, or from private homes used in emergencies for the accommodation of persons attending conventions, fairs or similar public gatherings, nor from temporary eating estab- lishments and temporary lodging places for the same, nor from railroad dining or buffet cars, nor from construction camps, nor from boarding houses and camps conducted in connection with wood cutting and logging operations, nor from any boarding care facilities

or children's homes that are licensed under section 7801.

~~Cottages shall~~ Rooms and cottages are not be deemed or considered lodging places and subject to a license where not more than 3 rooms and cottages are let.

Stores or other establishments, where bottled soft drinks or ice cream is sold for consumption from the original containers only, and where no tables, chairs, glasses or other utensils are provided in connection with such sale, ~~shall~~ are not be considered eating places ~~within the meaning of this section~~ establishments. At such establishments, straws or spoons may be provided to aid in the consumption of such bottled soft drinks or ice cream, ~~provided as long as they shall~~ be ~~are~~ supplied in original individual single service sterile packages.

Nonprofit organizations including, but not limited to, 4-H Clubs, scouts and ~~agricultural~~ agricultural societies ~~shall be~~ are exempt from department rules and regulations relating to dispensing foods and nonalcoholic beverages at not more than 12 public events or meals within one calendar year.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 194

S.P. 148 - L.D. 515

An Act To Review State Water Quality Standards

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 38 MRSA §420, sub-§1-B, ¶F is enacted to read:

F. The department may require mercury testing once per year for facilities that maintain at least 5 years of mercury testing data.

Sec. 2. 38 MRSA §420, sub-§2, ¶J is enacted to read:

J. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the department shall use a one in 10,000 risk level when calculating ambient water quality criteria for inorganic arsenic.

Sec. 3. 38 MRSA §464, sub-§4, ¶¶J and K are enacted to read:

J. For the purpose of calculating waste discharge license limits for toxic substances, the department may use any unallocated assimilative capacity that the department has set aside for future growth if the use of that unallocated assimilative capacity would avoid an exceedance of applicable ambient water quality criteria or a determination by the

department of a reasonable potential to exceed applicable ambient water quality criteria.

K. Unless otherwise required by an applicable effluent limitation guideline adopted by the department, any limitations for metals in a waste discharge license may be expressed only as mass-based limits.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 195

S.P. 407 - L.D. 1310

An Act To Amend the Laws Governing the Address Confidentiality Program

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 5 MRSA §90-B, sub-§1, ¶A, as enacted by PL 2001, c. 539, §1, is amended to read:

A. "Address" means a residential street, school or work address of an individual, including any geographically specific description or coordinate that identifies a residential address, as specified on the individual's application to be a program participant under this chapter section.

Sec. 2. 5 MRSA §90-B, sub-§7, as enacted by PL 2001, c. 539, §1, is amended to read:

7. Confidentiality. The program participant's application and supporting materials and the program's state e-mail account are not a public record and must be kept confidential by the secretary.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 196

H.P. 932 - L.D. 1241

An Act To Exempt Employers Subject to Federally Mandated Drug and Alcohol Programs from Maine Substance Abuse Program Laws

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 26 MRSA §681, sub-§8, as amended by PL 1995, c. 324, §2, is further amended to read:

8. Nuclear power plants; federal law. The following limitations apply to the application of this subchapter.